STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

04-03-2018

DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2017AP002087-CR Eau Claire County Case 2015CF000486

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY C. LOKKEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in Eau Claire County Circuit Court, Honorable Jon M. Theisen, Presiding

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF AND APPENDIX

Randall E. Paulson State Bar. No. 1010266

PAULSON LAW OFFICE Counsel for Defendant-Appellant 2266 N. Prospect Ave., Suite 450 Milwaukee, WI 53202-6333 [414] 202-9447

ISSUES

1. Did the court impose an unlawful sentence when it placed Lokken on probation for 10 years with a stayed prison term (five years each of confinement and supervision), but further ordered that the stay be lifted 4.5 years into the probation unless Lokken, on a joint and several basis with the co-defendant, pays \$688,334.04 in restitution, while he and the codefendant are in prison on other counts?

The court found the prison sentence to be lawful because the prison term was "imposed and stayed," and, therefore, not "conditional." (80:3, 5, App. 103, 105). The court concluded it gave Lokken an appropriate opportunity to avoid additional incarceration by paying restitution himself or persuading another person or persons to pay after recognizing "...that a gift or financial arrangement [with Lokken or his co-defendant] may actually have been associated with wrongdoing of the defendants." (80:2-3, App. 102-103).

2. Is re-sentencing on all counts necessary?

The circuit court rejected this argument. (80:4, App. 104).

3. Should Lokken be re-sentenced before a different judge?

The court concluded it properly denied Lokken's presentencing motion for disqualification, and rejected the postconviction motion for disqualification. (80:4, App. 104). 4. Does the order denying postconviction relief buttress and add reasons to order re-sentencing on all counts before a different judge?

This issue was not presented to the circuit court.

PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The legality of the sentence will be a matter of settled law. However, publication may still be warranted under Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(a)2. (established rule applied to significantly different facts). Sentencing discretion is not boundless: the available dispositions are dictated by law; the durations of dispositions is discretionary.

To further develop the issues, and ramifications of any published decision, Lokken would welcome oral argument, Wis. Stat. § 809.22.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Former Eau Claire County Treasurer Larry C. Lokken entered pleas and was convicted of theft and misconduct. Former office manager Kay Onarheim was convicted of similar charges. Her case is not before the court. Both prosecutions charged offenses committed from 2011 through 2013.

The complaint charged both Lokken and Onarheim in the first eleven counts. (1).¹ Each of those counts charged theft

¹ Although the complaint contains the charges against each defendant, Lokken was prosecuted in Eau Claire County Case 2015CF486, Onarheim in case 2015CF487. The cases were handled together at some hearings. (18).

in a business setting of amounts exceeding \$10,000.00, class G felonies, contrary to Wis. Stat. §943.20(1)(b) and (3)(c).

Counts 12-14 charged Lokken with misconduct in office, class I felonies, contrary to Wis. Stat. §946.12(2). Counts 15-17 charged Onarheim with violating the same statutes. (1).

Lokken waived his preliminary hearing. (85). On November 2, 2015, before the Honorable Jon M. Theisen, he pleaded no contest to theft-counts one, two, five, six and ten. (89:2, 17). The other six counts of theft were dismissed and read-in. (*Id.*). Lokken also pleaded no contest to the misconduct counts, 12-14. (*Id.* at 12).

On January 21, 2016, Judge Theisen imposed sentences. (92). Lokken filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and a motion for postconviction relief. *See*, Wis. Stat. §§809.30(2) (b) and (h). (59, 71). The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. (80, App. 101-105).

Lokken filed a notice of appeal directed to the judgments and order denying postconviction relief. (82).

Facts

Charges

Lokken was county treasurer for 38 years, retiring in September of 2013, along with Onarheim. (90:83, App. 123). Born June 7, 1947, he was over 68 years old when sentenced on January 21, 2016. (57:1, App. 106; 92:1, App. 115).

According to the complaint, Lokken's successor noted a difference of some \$450,000 between the delinquent tax reports of 2013 and those of 2012. The discrepancies arose in reports filed by Onarheim. Investigators attempted to speak

with her. She made numerous appointments, but did not keep them. (1:6).

The complaint alleged a "General Transaction Scheme" and described transactions considered "suspicious" by authors of a forensic audit, covering 2011, 2012, and 2013. "[A]II of the suspicious transactions were processed using Kay Onarheim's cash drawer." (1:6-7). The alleged scheme involved taxpayers who made payments at the treasurer's office during regular business hours.

A taxpayer would get a receipt, but, after the system generated it, the payment-record would be deleted. It would not be reflected in the daily cash report. On a day the office was closed, the payment would be reapplied in the system so the taxpayer did not get a delinquency notice. Because daily cash reports were only prepared on days the office was open, the imbalances were not detected.

Numerous deposits, in varying sums, were made by Onarheim and Lokken, at multiple area banks. The pattern of voided transactions and deposits observed in 2011, 2012, and 2013, ceased after Lokken and Onarheim retired. (1:9).

The complaint does not describe direct proof of Lokken's activities, except that he was seen at area banks depositing sums, often into accounts held by Onarheim. At sentencing, the court noted that Lokken denied committing the offenses, but told the author of the pre-sentence investigation report he agreed there was sufficient evidence to convict him. (92:82, App. 122).

Pleas

Lokken agreed to plead to theft counts one, two, five, six and ten, as a party to a crime. He also agreed to plead to misconduct counts 12, 13 and 14. (89:2). The other six counts (three, four, seven, eight, nine and eleven) were dismissed and read in. *Id.* at 3.

The State agreed not to issue additional charges against Lokken and not to issue any charges against his spouse. (89:3). The State also agreed to seek 6.5 years of initial confinement and seven years of extended supervision: "The state would agree at disposition to cap its recommendation concurrent on the felony theft counts and concurrent on the misconduct counts but..." to argue that each set of counts be consecutive. (*Id.* at 3-4). The parties agreed to pre-surcharge restitution of \$625,758.22, an amount accepted by the court. *Id.*

Revocation of Bail and Motion for Judicial Disqualification

The plea hearing was November 2, 2015. (89:1, App. 132). On December 14, 2015, the court sent the parties a letter stating, "I would like to schedule a hearing to discuss preparation for the upcoming sentencing hearing. I am concerned about timing issues, security, and accommodations." "Accommodations" apparently referred to the large number of people expected at sentencing. (18).

On December 18, 2015, Lokken, his counsel, and Onarheim's counsel went to the courthouse, expecting to attend a meeting in chambers. However, a large group was gathered in the courtroom. Calling the case on the record, the court acknowledged that a "meeting," not a hearing, had been expected. However, because a large audience had formed, the court decided "we should have this one in the courtroom." (90:2).

For most of the hearing, the court and counsel discussed logistical issues. At page 21, the court asked Lokken whether his "unfiled motion scheduled about going to Florida" had become a nonissue and defense counsel said that was correct. Apropos of nothing under discussion, the court stated, "Okay. I don't like the tension. I don't like the threats. And it's my sense that this just gets worse the closer we get. So I'm revoking bond on—on both Mr. Lokken and Ms. Onarheim effective immediately. I want him taken into custody. I want her picked up. I think any— They're safer as individuals incarcerated. I don't want the public involved. I mean, get involved in a sense of this threat thing. I don't want law enforcement to have to respond to situations. I— This whole travel thing has bothered me. And I have not heard anything that says people were using the opportunity of being out on bond to earnestly come up with finances to—to make the restitution. I think whatever is being done can continue to be done from—from jail." The court conceded that Lokken had not violated bail. *Id.* at 26-28.

Both defendants moved for judicial recusal based on the circumstances under which bail was revoked. (19, 20). The judge denied the request by written decision. (21). The defense reiterated its arguments in a petition to reinstate bail. (22, 23). The State wrote the court asking that it address "both the subjective and objective standards" of due process that apply to determining recusal issues." (24:1). "The State has concerns that if these issues, as well as other recusal bases are not addressed by the Court via the making of a complete record, the cases could be subject to reversal on appeal." *Id.* at 1-2. The court issued additional decisions explaining its denial of the recusal and bail requests. (25-27).

The court held another pre-sentence hearing on January 11, 2016. The last page of the hearing transcript reflects that, having earlier alleged that the judge may have alerted members of the public or press prior to the hearing at which bail was revoked, defense counsel was withdrawing that allegation. (91:35).

The postconviction motion filed for Lokken by undersigned counsel noted trial counsel's allegation that the judge may have alerted others to the hearing. (71:21-22). The postconviction court correctly noted that the postconviction motion failed to acknowledge that the allegation had been withdrawn. (80:4, App. 104). At the January 11, 2016, hearing, the court suggested that revoking bail without notice was appropriate because, "...if you give somebody notice that we have a security issue, you kind of give away. Do you get what I'm saying?" However, the court also stated it had not required Onarheim's presence "in large part because I had not made that decision until the very hearing." (91:32-34).

Sentencing

At the outset of sentencing, noting public and press interest, the court stated, "...We have more people than we usually have. 152 years ago Abraham Lincoln traveled to Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, for the dedication of a national cemetery at the site of a Civil War battle. ..." *Id.* at 3.

The State made the agreed-upon recommendation of 6.5 years of initial confinement and seven years of extended supervision. The defense submitted a privately-prepared report, and recommended lengthy probation with a year in jail as a condition. (92:73-74). The pre-sentence investigation report broadly recommended 5-10 years of confinement on the thefts and consecutive probation on the misconduct charges. (*Id.* at 79, App. 119).

The court found that the thefts were serious, but "more irreparable damage" was done by Lokken's misconduct in public office. *Id.* at 82, App. 122.

The court imposed maximum, consecutive sentences on count one (theft), and counts 12, 13, and 14 (misconduct in office). These sentences total 9.5 years of initial confinement and 11 years of extended supervision. (92:85, App. 125; 92:87, App. 127).

On theft-counts five, six and ten, the court explained, in response to questions from counsel, that it was placing Lokken on probation and withholding sentences. (92:90, App. 130; 57:1, App. 106).

On count two, the court "put conditional jail time of five years initial confinement, five years extended supervision consecutive to count one, which, again, is consecutive to the others, imposed but stayed." *Id.* After listing other conditions, the court stated: "The stay on the conditional jail on the probation, conditional prison actually, will be lifted unless restitution joint and several [²] is paid in full within four-and-a-half years." *Id.* at 88, App. 128. The court told Lokken that, "while you're in prison [the probation would provide] the option or opportunity for you to make arrangements that the victim is made whole thereby alleviating you of an additional five years of incarceration, five years of extended supervision." *Id.* at 89, App. 129.

Initially, the court stated that the probationary terms on theft counts two, five, six and ten would run consecutively to the prison sentences. However, the court corrected itself, stating, "This probation starts today" and the terms are "concurrent." (92:87, App. 127).

The prosecutor asked whether 10 years of probation was permissible. The court explained it telephoned someone at the Department of Corrections and so confirmed. *Id.* Next, the prosecutor asked if the court ordered "an imposed and stayed sentence" on count two. *Id.* The court said, "That's probably the best way to do it, is to call it count two, but—but I was told that you can stack the probation, as long as you get five years on count two, and then one year for every felony, which is eight, so it could be up to 13." *Id.* at 90, App. 130. Thus, rather than clarifying whether it was imposing and staying a sentence, the court apparently was still focused on the permissible duration of probation.

Finally, the prosecutor stated, "But so the record is clear, there's no imposed and stayed sentence on counts five,

² The court accepted a stipulation of restitution in the sum of 625,758.22. *Id.* at 86. The court noted that a 10% surcharge would be added. *Id.* at 77. With the surcharge, Lokken would owe 688,334.04.

six or ten." The court responded, "No." Defense counsel asked, "But what—what is the sentence as to those? ..." The court responded, "Well, he could be revoked from probation and come back for sentencing." *Id*.

The court explained that Lokken would be imprisoned for 9.5 years on other counts while serving the 10-year probationary terms, and, while the court supposed he could nevertheless violate probation, the court's "focus is to try to give [Lokken] an opportunity to shift some monies around and get that taken care of and maybe possibly avoid that and then possibly avoid that extra sentence." *Id.* at 90-91, App. 130-131.

Postconviction Litigation

Lokken's postconviction motion asked that the motion be assigned to a different judge and for re-sentencing, also before a different judge. (71:1).

Lokken alleged that the sentence on count two was unlawful because it imposed an unreasonable condition and because the court impermissibly mandated that the probationary term be prematurely revoked, shortened or replaced with a prison terms. (71:7-12). He alleged that the sentences on all counts were inadequately explained. (71:12-15). He moved for re-sentencing before a different judge. (71:15-25). The State filed a response. (72).

A hearing was scheduled. Two days before it was to take place, the court wrote the parties to cancel it and order further briefs. Specifically, the court wanted briefs on the legality of its sentence in count two. (73).

The parties filed briefs as directed. (77, 78). The court issued a decision without holding a hearing. (80, App. 101-105). Lokken filed an "Offer of Proof" summarizing evidence, as to his ability to pay, that he would have presented at the

expected hearing. (81). The offer of proof included a settlement statement regarding the sale of Lokken's home; it was consistent with claims in the postconviction motion that, despite hope at sentencing that the sale would generate funds, it did not. (71:10).

The postconviction court stated that Lokken "mischaracterize[d] the imposed and stayed sentence on Count 2 as conditional incarceration." (80:5, App. 105). However, the court confirmed it had "confusingly [referred] to the 10-year sentence as conditional,." The court found it had "ultimately clarified" it was ordering an "imposed and stayed" sentence. *Id.* The postconviction order does not dispute that:

- The prison term is only stayed for 4.5 years of the 10year probationary term.
- The court ordered the stay be lifted automatically upon failure to pay restitution, as opposed to being dissolved only as the culmination of an administrative revocation proceeding during which all potential grounds for revoking, continuing, modifying, or extending probation would be duly considered.
- Relatedly, the lifting of the stay is judicially mandated upon failure to make restitution for any reason; the decision whether to lift it is not left to the executive branch/Department of Corrections, or governed by the statutes and rules the department would normally apply.

The postconviction court confirmed it "...imposed the more lengthy sentence—approximately 15 years—then stayed a portion of that sentence allowing the defendants^[3] the opportunity to pay the restitution." (80:3, App. 103)

³ The plural refers to the court having imposed a similar "stayed" prison term for one count of Onarheim's sentence.

The court rejected Lokken's claim that it imposed an unreasonable condition of probation. As a threshold matter, the court found that "the record reflects" Lokken and Onarheim stole "over one million dollars," so that \$688,000.00 was "only a portion of the amount of the theft," and requiring Lokken to pay the full "portion" was "not an unreasonable burden." (80:1, App. 101).

The postconviction order does not indicate where the record reflects that Lokken is guilty of stealing over one million dollars. When Lokken gave up his rights and entered his pleas, the State indicated that "during the years 2011, 2012, and 2013, in excess of \$600,000 was determined to be missing from the treasurer's office." (89:133, App. 133).

While the court, postconviction, assumed Mr. Lokken to be guilty of stealing "over one million dollars," the court itself had agreed that the sum was considerably lower – the actual theft was \$625,758.22, and the restitution amount grew to \$688,334.04 only because of the statutorily assessed surcharge of ten percent. (92:77, 92:86, App. 117, 126; 89:3-4; 57:8, App 113).

The postconviction motion alleged that Lokken was unable to pay more than a small amount of restitution. (71:9-10). After the postconviction court denied relief without a hearing, Lokken submitted an offer of proof with documentary evidence showing the sale of his home did not produce significant funds. (81).

After stating it ordered a not-unreasonable "portion" of restitution, the postconviction court explained it never expected Lokken or Onarheim to "earn \$688,000 while serving prison sentences." (80:3, App. 103). Rather, the court surmised that "some people associated with" Lokken or Onarheim might pay restitution to help them avoid incarceration: they "may come to recognize that a gift or financial arrangement may actually have been associated with wrongdoing of the defendants." (*Id.* at 2-3, App. 102-103). As with the "over one million dollars" assumption, the court did not cite the record showing what persons might recognize they received ill-gotten gains, or why they might pay restitution. The court cited no legal authority authorizing incarceration unless a defendant can obtain funds from others.

The court denied Lokken's recusal request. The request was based on claims that (1) the unlawful and impermissibly coercive sentence contributed to the appearance of a lack of impartiality (71:18-20, 23-25); and (2) the appearance of a lack of impartiality had been created by the circumstances under which the court revoked bail (71:20-23).

As to the bail issue, as noted, the court correctly criticized undersigned counsel for citing allegations by trial counsel that were withdrawn. (80:4, App. 104). The postconviction order does not dispute the other circumstances, such as the fact that the parties had been notified of a meeting, not a hearing, and not a bail hearing.

The postconviction order does not dispute that the court revoked bail abruptly, in the absence of a request by the state or an allegation that Lokken violated bail conditions. ((71:22) (motion allegations); (90:21) (bail revocation)). The postconviction order noted the court's discretion to revoke bail, and concluded it was appropriate and did not create an appearance of a lack of impartiality. (80:4, App. 104).

The postconviction motion alleged the court revoked bail to punish Lokken for failing to gather more restitution in the 46 days between the plea hearing and the hearing. Lokken sold a car and paid the proceeds; the court did not explain what more he should have been able to accomplish, "suggest[ing] a lack of impartiality, elevating a desire to coerce payment over an interest in fair, rational treatment." (71:22, fn.9).

The postconviction order concluded Lokken had had sufficient time to raise funds for restitution, and had lead the

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