RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-21-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP2087-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY C. LOKKEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JON M. THEISEN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. MELE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not illegally sentence Lokken on count two.

Lokken's challenge to the legality of his sentence on count two appears two-fold. First, he argues that the circuit court withheld sentence on count two and ordered conditional jail time in excess of that authorized by Wis. Stat. § 973.09(4)(a). (Lokken's Br. 20–21.) Second, he contends that if the court imposed and stayed a sentence on count two, it unlawfully ordered his probation revoked if he fails to meet the condition of probation that he pay restitution on a joint and several basis within four and one half years. (Lokken's Br. 20-21.).⁴

As explained below, Lokken's arguments fail. First, the circuit court did not withhold sentence on count two; rather, it lawfully imposed and stayed a sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a). Second, Lokken's claim that the court unlawfully ordered his probation revoked if he fails to meet the restitution condition is not ripe. But even if it was, his claim is meritless because the court did not intend to order Lokken's probation revoked if he fails to pay restitution on time.

A. Standard of review

"Sentencing is a matter committed to the trial court's discretion." *State v. Holloway*, 202 Wis. 2d 694, 697, 551 N.W.2d 841 (Ct. App. 1996). Here, Lokken contends that the circuit court's sentence contravenes two different statutes. Review is therefore de novo. *Id*.

B. The circuit court ordered an imposed and stayed sentence on count two, not a withheld sentence with conditional jail time.

Lokken's first claim is that the circuit court withheld sentence on count two and ordered conditional jail time in excess of that authorized by Wis. Stat. § 973.09(4)(a). Instead of withholding sentence and ordering jail time as a

⁴ Lokken also claims that his sentence is illegal because the circuit court imposed an unreasonable condition of probation. (Lokken's Br. 23–26.) An unreasonable condition of probation does not render a sentence illegal—the unreasonable condition simply is removed. See State v. Martel, 2003 WI 70, ¶ 37, 262 Wis. 2d 483, 664 N.W.2d 69. The State thus properly addresses this argument in a separate section.

condition of probation, the circuit court lawfully imposed and stayed a sentence on count two. This Court should therefore affirm the circuit court's denial of Lokken's claim in this regard.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.09(1)(a) gives the circuit court two options when placing a defendant on probation. First, it may withhold sentence. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a). Second, it may impose a sentence and stay its execution. *Id*. If the sentencing court withholds sentence, it may impose up to one year of jail time as a condition of probation. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(4)(a).

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 973.09(1)(a), the circuit court imposed and stayed a sentence on count two. Initially, the court characterized its disposition as "conditional jail," "conditional prison," and "imposed but stayed." (R. 93:87-88.) But the court clarified, through the parties' questioning, that it meant to impose and stay a sentence. (R. 93:89–90.) For example, the court did not correct the district attorney's statement that the court imposed and stayed a sentence on count two. (R. 93:89–90.) Nor did the court correct defense counsel when he stated, "I heard count two and imposed and stayed." (R. 93:90.) Moreover, the court indicated that unlike count two, it was withholding sentences on counts five, six, and ten. (R. 93:89-90.) It also referred to count two as an extra sentence. (R. 93:91.) Lest there be any confusion, the judgment of conviction recites an imposed and stayed sentence (R. 55:4), and the court stated in its postconviction order that it imposed and stayed a sentence on count two (R. 80:5).

Still, Lokken contends that the circuit court ordered a withheld sentence and condition time in excess of that authorized by Wis. Stat. § 973.09(4)(a). (Lokken's Br. 20–21.) His argument appears to be that the court's oral pronouncement was unambiguous and therefore it controls over the written judgment ordering an imposed and stayed sentence. (Lokken's Br. 20.)

Given the above record, the best that Lokken can do is to show that the court's oral pronouncement was ambiguous on whether it was ordering a withheld sentence with condition time or an imposed and stayed sentence. The test for ambiguity in sentencing asks whether "reasonably wellinformed persons could construe the trial court's sentencing remarks" in two or more different ways. *State v. Oglesby*, 2006 WI App 95, ¶ 19, 292 Wis. 2d 716, 715 N.W.2d 727. If the sentence is ambiguous, this Court must review the entire record to discern the circuit court's sentencing intent. *Id*. ¶¶ 20–21.

Even if this Court were to decide that the circuit court's sentencing remarks were ambiguous in this context, other parts of the record—the judgment of conviction and the postconviction order—establish that the court's intent was to impose and stay a sentence on count two. *See State v. Brown*, 150 Wis. 2d 636, 642, 443 N.W.2d 19 (Ct. App. 1989) (partially relying on judgment of conviction to show that the circuit court's intent was to impose a consecutive sentence). Lokken's first claim attacking the legality of his sentence on count two therefore fails.

C. Lokken's remaining challenge to the legality of his sentence on count two is not ripe for judicial review.

Lokken's remaining challenge to his sentence on count two is that, according to him, the circuit court effectively ordered his probation revoked if he does not pay restitution within four and one half years. (Lokken's Br. 19–28.) In making this argument, Lokken concedes that "[n]either the oral pronouncement of the sentence nor the written judgment refers to probation on count two being 'revoked' at the 4.5-year mark of the 10-year probationary term." (Lokken's Br. 20.) Lokken also concedes that it is not clear what would happen if he does not meet the condition of probation—he questions whether "probation would end by advanced judicial order alone, be deemed revoked, or become terminated or revoked after some unknown process." (Lokken's Br. 21.) Nevertheless, he argues that the court's sentence violates Wis. Stat. § 973.10(2), as it "prevents the executive branch from exercising its valid statutory authority to determine whether to initiate revocation." (Lokken's Br. 22.)

Because Lokken's remaining challenge to the legality of his sentence depends on hypothetical or future facts, and because there is no hardship to Lokken if this Court withholds consideration of his claim, Lokken's claim is not ripe for judicial review. This Court may affirm the circuit court's denial of Lokken's claim on this alternative basis. *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 125, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985), *superseded on other grounds by statute* ("An appellate court may sustain a lower court's holding on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court.").

"If the resolution of a claim depends on hypothetical or future facts, the claim is not ripe for adjudication and will not be addressed by this court." *State v. Armstead*, 220 Wis. 2d 626, 631, 583 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1998). "The two fundamental considerations in a ripeness analysis are 'the fitness of the issues for judicial decision and the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration." *State v. Thiel*, 2012 WI App 48, ¶ 7, 340 Wis. 2d 654, 813 N.W.2d 709 (citation omitted).

In Armstead, Armstead filed an interlocutory appeal raising constitutional challenges to the statutory scheme that mandated adult court jurisdiction over the State's charges against her. Armstead, 220 Wis. 2d at 631–37. This Court held that Armstead's constitutional claims were not fit for judicial review because each claim required it to base its decision on the *possibility* that an event would occurspecifically, that Armstead would be convicted of a lesserincluded offense; that Armstead would receive life imprisonment without parole; or that Armstead would be imprisoned with adult inmates. *Armstead*, 220 Wis. 2d at 635–37. In other words, each of Armstead's claims depended on hypothetical or future facts, making judicial review improper. *Id.; accord Clark v. Mudge*, 229 Wis. 2d 44, 49, 599 N.W.2d 67 (Ct. App. 1999) (Mudge's constitutional claim not ripe because it depended "only on his potential financial exposure and the possibility that the jury's verdict [would] permit a recovery in excess of the preamendment caps.").

Conversely, in *Thiel*, this Court decided that Thiel's claims were fit for judicial review. *Thiel*, 340 Wis. 2d 654, \P 7. There, Thiel challenged two of the 48 rules that he was required to follow on supervised release. *Id.* $\P\P$ 3–5. The State argued that Thiel's claims were not ripe because no one had tried to enforce the rules against him. *Id.* \P 7. This Court disagreed: "Thiel is not challenging how Rules 13 and 16 would be applied to him—he is instead arguing that the State has no statutory authority to impose these rules." *Id.* Because this Court could decide the merits of Thiel's claims without further factual development, Thiel's claims were fit for judicial review. *Id.*; accord Abbott Labs. v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 149 (1967), abrogated on other grounds by Califano v. Sanders, 430 U.S. 99 (1977) (purely legal question fit for judicial review).

This Court also has held that an issue is ripe where it involves the reach of a condition of probation. See State v. Simonetto, 2000 WI App 17, ¶ 4 n.1, 232 Wis. 2d 315, 606 N.W.2d 275. There, Simonetto challenged "a condition of probation that he not 'go where children may congregate' as being vague and overly broad." Id. ¶ 1. The State argued that the issue was not ripe because Simonetto had failed to show how he was harmed by the condition. Id. ¶ 4 n.1. This Court held that the issue was ripe because "a probationer is entitled to know in advance the reach of a condition so that he or she may regulate his or her conduct accordingly." *Id*.

In this case, Lokken's remaining challenge to the legality of his sentence on count two is not fit for judicial review. His concessions say it all: it is not clear what *might* happen to Lokken *if* he fails to satisfy the condition of his probation. What is clear, however, is that the circuit court has not revoked Lokken's probation, nor has Lokken violated any condition of his probation. Thus, as in *Armstead*, and unlike in *Thiel*, resolution of Lokken's claim requires this Court to base its decision on hypothetical or future facts, making judicial review inappropriate. *See Armstead*, 220 Wis. 2d at 635–37; *Thiel*, 340 Wis. 2d 654, ¶ 7.

Moreover, there is no hardship to Lokken if this Court withholds consideration of his claim. Unlike Simonetto, this is not a situation where the defendant seeks clarification of a condition of probation so that he can regulate his conduct accordingly. See Simonetto, 232 Wis. 2d 315, ¶ 4 n.1. Here, the condition of probation is clear: pay restitution on a joint and several basis within four and one half years. (R. 93:88.) Lokken does not contend that this condition is ambiguous; rather, his challenge focuses on what *might* happen to him if he does not meet it. If, as Lokken speculates, he fails to pay restitution, and if the circuit court revokes his probation, he can appeal from the court's revocation order. See State v. Burchfield, 230 Wis. 2d 348, 350, 602 N.W.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1999) (appeal from circuit court's revocation of probation); see also Mudge, 229 Wis. 2d at 50 (claim not ripe because Mudge could litigate it in the future).

Because this Court does not decide issues based on hypothetical or future facts, and because there is no hardship to Lokken if this Court withholds consideration of his claim, this Court should conclude that Lokken's claim is not ripe for judicial review.

D. The circuit court did not unlawfully order Lokken's probation revoked if Lokken fails to pay restitution within four and one half years.

If this Court decides that Lokken's remaining claim is ripe for judicial review, it fails on the merits because the circuit court did not intend to order Lokken's probation revoked if Lokken fails to pay restitution within four and one half years.

The revocation of probation falls within an area of shared powers. *State v. Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 648, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999). However, the Legislature has delegated the authority to revoke probation to the executive branch under Wis. Stat. § 973.10(2), and the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that the delegation is constitutional because it does not "unduly burden[] or substantially interfere[] with the judiciary's constitutional function to impose criminal penalties." *Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d at 653. Therefore, Wis. Stat. § 973.10(2) lawfully "prohibits judicial revocation of probation by trial courts." *Burchfield*, 230 Wis. 2d at 354.

Here, Lokken's challenge focuses on the following language from the circuit court's oral pronouncement of the conditions of probation: "The stay . . . will be lifted unless the restitution joint and several is paid in full within four-and-ahalf years." (Lokken's Br. 20–21; R. 93:88.) This statement is ambiguous because reasonably well-informed persons could construe it in different ways. *See Oglesby*, 292 Wis. 2d 716, ¶ 19.

One reasonable interpretation of the above statement is that the circuit court was advising Lokken of a lawful condition of his probation and the potential consequence for violating it, namely, the revocation of probation.⁵ Although the court referred to the "stay" being "lifted" as opposed to probation being revoked, this reasonably can be seen as a misuse in terminology because the court imposed and stayed a sentence on count two instead of withholding sentence and ordering conditional jail time. See State v. Johnson, 2005 WI App 202, ¶ 7, 287 Wis. 2d 313, 704 N.W.2d 318 (courts have power to impose conditional jail time and stay it until the completion or occurrence of some event). And while the court spoke of probation revocation for failure to pay restitution as a certainty, not a possibility, this reasonably can be seen as a way of emphasizing the need to pay restitution in a case where the court primarily was concerned with making the victim whole. That the court never said that it would personally revoke Lokken's probation furthers the reasonableness of the State's interpretation.

However, Lokken also offers a reasonable construction of the circuit court's remark. The language that the stay "will be lifted" (R. 93:88) upon Lokken's failure to pay restitution within a certain time reasonably can be seen as an order for probation revocation.

Since reasonably well-informed persons could construe the circuit court's remark in different ways, and since the court did not fully clarify what it meant in its postconviction order (R. 80:5), the statement is ambiguous. *See Oglesby*, 292 Wis. 2d 716, ¶ 19. Thus, this Court must review other parts of the record to discern the circuit court's intent. *Id.* ¶ 20. As

⁵ Lokken suggests that a probationer cannot be revoked for failing to pay restitution as a condition of probation. (Lokken's Br. 24.) He is incorrect. *See generally Bartus v. Wis. Dep't. of Health* & *Soc. Servs., Div. of Corr.*, 176 Wis. 2d 1063, 501 N.W.2d 419 (1993) (noting that the Department of Corrections may revoke probation for failure to pay restitution).

in *Oglesby*, where one party came "to the debate with a threshold advantage," *Id.* ¶ 21, the same is true here: the State's construction is favored because this Court presumes that the circuit court knew the law at sentencing. *See Tri-State Mechanical, Inc. v. Northland College,* 2004 WI App 100, ¶ 10, 273 Wis. 2d 471, 681 N.W.2d 302. Thus, the question is whether the record rebuts the presumption that the circuit court sentenced Lokken in a lawful manner. *See Oglesby,* 292 Wis. 2d 716, ¶ 21. It does not.

As Lokken concedes, nowhere in the record does it say that the circuit court will revoke Lokken's probation if he fails to pay restitution on time. (Lokken's Br. 20–21.) The judgment of conviction simply reflects the court's sentencing remark: "[s]tay to be lifted if restitution joint and several not paid in full within 4.5 years." (R. 55:8.) Although the record shows that the court asked the district attorney to notify it of the date that is four and one half years from sentencing (R. 60), nothing in the record (or CCAP) indicates that the court scheduled a probation review hearing. Nor is there anything to show that the court requested notification if Lokken fails to timely pay restitution. Thus, a review of the record simply furthers speculation as to what the court intended, which is not enough to rebut the presumption that the court knew the law and sentenced Lokken in a lawful manner. See Oglesby, 292 Wis. 2d 716, ¶¶ 33–34.

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